ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. 	 The Circuit Court erred in ordering the sale of select portions of the "family farm," 
in which the Petitioner was devised a one-third share, without first appointing a 
commissioner or making the requisite factual findings on the record. 

2. 	 The Circuit Court's Order violates W. Va. Code § 44-8-1 by permitting the sale of 
portions, or the entirety, of a specific devise without first complying with W. Va. 
Code § 37-4-3. In so doing, the Circuit Court violated the Petitioner's right to a 
partition in kind or by allotment. 

3. 	 The Circuit Court's Order was likely based, in part, in the Court's Conclusion that 
the Co-executor Respondents "entered into contracts with willing buyers," which 
was clearly erroneous. 

4. 	 In the alternative to granting an appeal under the collateral order doctrine, a writ of 
prohibition should be issued to preclude any sale of the family farm from 
proceeding. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Rosezella M. Presnell ("Decedent") departed this life on December 31, 2014, leaving 

behind three children: (I) the petitioner, Jonathan E. Presnell, Sr. ("Petitioner"); (2) the 

respondent, Judith E. Wolfe; and (3) the respondent, Eston J. Presnell, Jr. The Decedent died 

testate, appointing the respondent Judith E. Wolfe's son, the respondent Larry A. Wolfe, Jr., and 

the respondent Eston J. Presnell, Jr. 's son, the respondent Eston J. Presnell, III, as co-executors 

(collectively "Co-executor Respondents") of her Last Will and Testament ("Will"). The Will 

devised: (1) a domicile, garage, and commercial complex; (2) the "family farm," a tract 

consisting of approximately 300 acres of mostly unimproved land; and (3) the residual real 

property to "my three children, to share equally outright and in fee simple." (A.R. 11). On 

August 12,2016, the Petitioner filed the underlying Circuit Court action, a three-count complaint 

for "Breach of Fiduciary Duty," "Tortious Interference with an Inheritance," and "Partition of 

Real Estate." (A.R. 2). Prior to the filing of the complaint, the Petitioner sought to receive his 
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one-third of the family fann, with that one-third being the portion of the fann "that adjoins his 

property," since the Petitioner's home is located on a parcel contiguous with the family fann. 

(A.R. 87). Upon filing the complaint, the primary impediment to such a division was that the 

Petitioner and the Co-executor Respondents disputed the manner of calculating the Petitioner's 

one-third share. Then, on May 4, 2017, the Co-executor Respondents filed a Motion to Sell Real 

Property, seeking to sell portions of the family farm, which would likely partially or completely 

fall within the Petitioner's one-third share. (A.R. 48). The Petitioner responded by objecting to 

the sale and moving for the appointment of court commissioners "for the purpose of valuing the 

subject real estate and making [a] determination as to whether or not such property can 

conveniently and equitably be partitioned in kind in order to [sic] permit the Plaintiff to receive 

his one-third share by allotment." (A.R. 77). 

On June 5, 2017, the Circuit Court heard argument regarding the sale of portions of the 

family fann, finding that the Will specifically devised the family fann to the children of the 

Decedent (A.R. 124, lines 17-18); however, notwithstanding this finding, the Co-executor 

Respondents were empowered to sell the parcels set forth in the Motion to Sell, and further, that 

they had "the right to sell all or part of this real property," without first appointing a 

commissioner or making certain factual findings on the record, as required by W. Va. Code § 37

4-3 (1957) (A.R. 124, lines 22-23). Thereafter, the Petitioner filed a motion for reconsideration 

of the June 5, 2017 ruling, which was denied, and a motion to stay the ruling pending this appeal, 

which was granted. (A.R.93). The Court entered an Order Granting Motion to Sell Property on 

August 29,2017, from which the Petitioner now appeals. (A.R. 142). 

For the reasons set forth, infra, the Petitioner respectfully requests that this Honorable 

Court reverse and remand the Circuit Court's order, or in the alternative, issue a writ of 
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prohibition to preclude the Co-executor Respondents from selling portions or the entirety of the 

family farm. 

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

Pursuant to statute and case law, a specific devise cannot be sold in a partition suit 

without a fmding, on the record, that the property cannot be conveniently partitioned in kind, that 

the interests of one or more of the owners will be promoted by the sale, and that the interests of 

the objecting owner or owners will not be prejudiced by the sale. Otherwise, there is a taking of 

property for which money alone cannot compensate for sentimental or specific use reasons. The 

Circuit Court's decision to permit the sale of portions or the entirety of the family farm denied 

the Petitioner his procedural due process rights, as there was no finding that the property at issue 

could not be conveniently partitioned in kind. To the contrary, the property at issue is 

approximately 300 acres of mostly unimproved land, for which the Petitioner seeks to receive 

one-third share in kind or by allotment. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 

The Petitioner does not request oral argument. Pursuant to Rule 18(a) of the West 

Virginia Rules ofAppellate Procedure, the Petitioner submits that oral argument is unnecessary, 

as the dispositive issues have been authoritatively decided, and the decisional process would not 

be significantly aided by oral argument. 
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ARGUMENT 


I. 	 THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN ORDERING THE SALE OF SELECT 
POTIONS OF THE "FAMILY FARM," IN WHICH THE PETITIONER 
WAS DEVISED A ONE-THIRD SHARE, WITHOUT FIRST 
APPOINTING A COMMISSIONER OR MAKING THE REQUISITE 
FACTUAL FINDINGS ON THE RECORD. 

This case presents the issue that a sale of a specific devise of real property was ordered 

over the Petitioner's objection, without the benefit of a commissioner's report, or other requisite 

fmding(s) on the record, in violation of the Petitioner's statutory and due process right to have a 

partition in kind or by allotment considered. Because the Circuit Court failed to appoint a 

commissioner "for the purpose of valuing the subject real estate and making [a] determination as 

to whether or not such property can conveniently and equitably be partitioned in kind in order to 

[sic] permit the [petitioner] to receive his one-third share by allotment" (A.R. 77) or otherwise 

find that the property could not be conveniently partitioned in kind, nor did it determine that the 

interests of the Petitioner would not be prejudiced by the sales proposed by the Respondent Co

executors, in violation of W. Va. Code § 37-4-3, the sales must not be permitted to proceed. 

By virtue of W. Va. Code § 37-4-3, a party desiring to compel partition through 
sale is required to demonstrate [(1)] that the property cannot be conveniently 
partitioned in kind, [(2)] that the interests of one or more of the parties will be 
promoted by the sale, and [(3)] that the interests of the other parties will not be 
prejudiced by the sale. 

SyI. Pt. 1, Ark Land Co. v. Harper, 215 W. Va. 331, 599 S.E.2d 754 (2004) (quoting SyI. Pt. 3, 

Consol. Gas Supply Corp. v. Riley, 161 W.Va. 782,247 S.E.2d 712 (1978». "A sale cannot be 

decreed in a partition suit unless it appears, by report of commissioner or otherwise by the 

record, that partition cannot be conveniently made, and also that the interests of those interested 

in the land or its proceeds will be promoted by a sale." SyI. Pt. 7, in part, Roberts v. Coleman, 
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37 W. Va. 143, 16 S.E. 482 (1892)1. A Circuit Court's interpretation ofa will cannot perform an 

end-run around the statutory requirements ofpartition. 

By common law, partition must be in kind, however inconvenient. 2 Minor, lnst. 
421; 3 Porn. Eq. Jur. § 1390. By statute introduced into the Code of 1849 this 
inconvenience was remedied by the provision that in any case "in which partition 
cannot conveniently be made, if the interests of those who are entitled to the 
subject, or its proceeds, will be promoted by a sale," etc., a sale may be decreed. 
Such is our Code of 1887, (chapter 79, § 3.) Now, remembering that the common 
law gave right to have partition in kind, and this statute being an innovation upon 
the common law, and taking away from the owner the right to keep his freehold in 
kind, to justify a sale in any case, it must come within the statute, and it must 
appear in some way by the record both that partition cannot be conveniently 
made, and that the interests of the owners will be promoted by sale. Such is the 
letter ofthe statute . 

. . . [1]t is held that in a suit for partition the court has no authority to order a sale 
of the land, unless it is made to appear, by an inquiry by a commissioner, or 
otherwise, that a partition cannot be made in some of the modes provided by the 
statute. The mere fact that some, or even a majority, of the parceners prefer a sale 
will not justify it. The facts required by the statute must appear. Where the 
record does not show this, a sale is erroneous. 

Roberts, 16 S.E. at 486--87 (emphasis added). 

A. 	The Petitioner is a one-third owner of the family farm, and as such was entitled 
to due process prior to the Circuit Court's authorization to sell. 

Upon his mother's passing, the Petitioner was vested with a one-third ownership in the 

family farm, among other real property, together with his siblings. ("All devises are to be 

construed as vesting at the testator's death, unless the intention to postpone the vesting is clearly 

indicated in the will." Patton v. Corley, 107 W. Va. 318, 148 S.E. 120, 121 (1929)). 

Accordingly, one-third of the family farm is the Petitioner's property, for which he is entitled to 

due process before it may be sold. 

I The1931 revisions to W. Va. Code § 37-4-3 removed the requirement that all interests involved be promoted, rather, 
only that all parties' interests will not be prejudiced by a partition by sale. However, by statute, a party desiring to 
sell the property is still required to demonstrate that the property cannot be conveniently partitioned in kind. Hence, 
"there is a statutory right to have partition in kind considered." Consol. Gas SUlmly Corp. v. Riley, 161 W. Va. 782, 
790,247 S.E.2d 712, 716 (1978). 
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B. W. Va. Code § 37-4-3 must be complied with to sell a specific devise. 

The law of this State requires that as a prerequisite to the sale of real estate subject to a 

partition suit, the Court must make certain findings: 

"A cotenant cannot have the land sold rather than partitioned, as matter of right, 
the right of sale being only an incident of, and subordinate to the right ofpartition. 
Certain facts must exist before the court is authorized by the statute to sell. It 
must appear (1) that partition cannot be conveniently, or equitably made, and (2) 
that the interests of all the joint owners will be promoted by a sale, before the 
court can properly decree a sale. This Court has held in a number of cases, that a 
sale of land in a partition suit cannot be decreed, 'unless it affirmatively 
appears in the record that partition cannot be conveniently made and that the 
interests of the parties entitled to such real estate will be promoted by a sale 
thereof,' which is but the plain meaning of the statute." 

Consol. Gas Supply Corp., 247 S.E. at 714-15 (quoting Loudin v. Cunningham, 82 W.Va. 453, 

96 S.E. 59, 60 (1918) (emphasis added». "But for the statute authorizing it, a sale of real estate 

could not be decreed in a suit for partition thereof." Syl. Pt. 1, Croston v. Male, 56 W. Va. 205, 

49 S.E. 136 (1904). "Forcible conversion of property into money is avoided wherever possible." 

Id at 138. Accordingly, the ability to sell land which is subject to a partition suit is contingent 

upon compliance with the statute. Since any statute permitting the sale of land over the desire of 

one or more owners is in derogation to the common law, such statute must be strictly construed. 

Because the Circuit Court did not consider the factors set forth above in rending its decision, the 

Circuit Court's order allowing the sales to proceed must be reversed. 

II. 	 THE CIRCUIT COURT'S ORDER VIOLATES, INTER ALIA, W. VA. 
CODE § 44-8-1 BY PERMITTING THE SALE OF PORTIONS, OR THE 
ENTIRETY, OF A SPECIFIC DEVISE WITHOUT FIRST COMPLYING 
WITH W. VA. CODE § 37-4-3. IN SO DOING, THE CIRCUIT COURT 
VIOLATED THE PETITIONER'S RIGHT TO A PARTITION IN KIND 
OR BY ALLOTMENT. 

The Circuit Court ruled that the Co-executor Respondents could sell select portions of the 
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family farm, based upon the Court's interpretation of the Will. (A.R. 142). Particularly, the 

Circuit Court found that because the Will provided a general power to sell real property clause 

and a specific clause empowering the Co-executor Respondents to sell the Decedent's home and 

commercial complex, that this necessarily entailed the right to sell the family farm as well. (A.R. 

142-143). Not only does this interpretation ignore the fact that no such power of sale is provided 

in the clause devising the family farm, it also ignores the likely intent of the Decedent that the 

Respondent Co-executors were given the power to sell the home and commercial complex by 

complying with the requirements of the law. Regardless, a plain reading of W. Va. Code §§ 44

8-1 (2016) and 37-4-3 precludes the sale of the family farm without first complying with specific 

procedures. 

A. W. Va. Code § 44-8-1 does not permit an executor to sell a specific devise. 

West Virginia Code § 44-8-1 provides, in pertinent part, that: "[w]hen any will heretofore 

or hereafter executed gives to the executor named therein the power to sell the testator's real 

estate, which has not been theretofore specifically devised therein, the executor may sell any 

such real estate unless otherwise provided in said will. Id (emphasis added). It necessarily 

follows, then, that where a specific devise is made, the executor may not sell such real estate 

without first adhering to the requirements of W Va. Code § 37-4-3, as set forth in Ark Land Co., 

supra, at Syl. Pt. 1. A "specific devise" is simply "[a] devise that passes a particular piece of 

property." DEVISE, Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014). Unquestionably then, the "family 

farm located on Middle Ridge in Mineral County, West Virginia consisting of approximately 306 

acres" is a specific devise. (A.R. 11). Indeed, the Circuit Court found the family farm to be a 

specific devise: "[s]o, I'm going to find, even though there are some specific bequests [sic], it 
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appears there's enough language here that implies and [the Decedent] anticipated the possibility 

of wanting to sell or allowing the executors the right to sell all or part of this real property." 

(A.R. 124, lines 17-23). 

B. 	 The requisites of W. Va. Code § 37-4-3 were not met prior to the Circuit Court's 
approval of the sales; therefore the order must be reversed. 

Indisputably, the Circuit Court failed to comply with the requisites of W. Va. Code § 37

4-3 prior to rendering its decision. Nothing on the record indicates any fact finding or other 

inquiry into whether the family farm was amenable to a division in kind. To the contrary, the 

Respondent Co-executors' own counsel conceded this point: "[t]he estate has always been 

amenable to you know deeding Mr. Presnell a portion of this or what have you, but we do, I 

think we need a survey, we need certainly an appraisal ...." (A.R. 136, lines 22-25). Moreover, 

the burden of proof that the property cannot be conveniently partitioned in kind rests with the 

Respondent Co-executors: "[b]y virtue of W. Va. Code, 37-4-3, a party desiring to compel 

partition through sale is required to demonstrate that the property cannot be conveniently 

partitioned in kind, that the interests of one or more of the parties will be promoted by the sale, 

and that the interests of the other parties will not be prejudiced by the sale." Consol. Gas Supply 

Qmb supra, at Syl. Pt. 3 (emphasis added). No party to this action argued at the June 5, 2017 

hearing that the approximately 300 acres of mostly unimproved land at issue is not partitionable 

in kind. In fact, the Circuit Court implicitly agreed that the family fann was divisible in kind, 

even after selling off substantial portions of it: "I would say before we move on to exploring the 

sale of additional tracts under this three hundred and six approximate acres that the parties 

explore the option of doing an in kind division at that point ...." (A.R. 125, lines 3-8). Because 

no effort was made on the record to determine whether the family fann could be conveniently 
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partitioned in kind, the Respondent Co-executors did not comply with W. Va. Code § 37-4-3; 

accordingly, the Circuit Court erred in ordering that "[t]he Co-executors ... shall have the 

authority to sell any real property in the estate as they wish." (A.R. 143). 

III. 	 THE CIRCUIT COURT'S ORDER WAS LIKELY BASED, IN PART, ON 
THE COURT'S CONCLUSION THAT THE RESPONDENT CO
EXECUTORS "ENTERED INTO CONTRACTS WITH WILLING 
BUYERS," WHICH WAS CLEARLY ERRONEOUS. 

In the instant case, the Circuit Court ordered that the Co-executor Respondents "shall 

have the authority to sell any real property in the estate as they wish." (A.R. 143). In addition to 

the Court's interpretation of the Will, a review of transcript from the June 5, 2017 hearing 

reveals the factors the Circuit Court likely considered in reaching this result: "I'm going to fmd 

that [the Respondent Co-executors'] motion is proper and allow the executors to go forward with 

the sale of the properties as they already have contracts on two at this point ...." (A.R. 124, 

lines 23-25; A.R. 125, line 1); "[w]ell, of course, they have contracts with people so you're 

breaking contracts . . .." (A.R. 129, line 22-23); "so I've already made the ruling that the 

executors have the right to sell property from the estate, they've entered into contracts with 

willing buyers. I'm not going to disrupt those ...." (A.R. 133, line 25; A.R. 134, lines 1-4). As 

set forth in Petitioner's Motion for Reconsideration of June 5, 2017 Ruling Granting Motion to 

Sell Real Property (A.R. 79), the "contracts," or rather purchase agreements, lacked the 

Petitioner's signature, as a seller; on their face expired April 25, 2017, more than five weeks 

prior to the June 5, 2017 hearing; and were merely offers that terminated due to the lack of the 

Petitioner's signature (A.R. 82-83). Accordingly, no contracts were entered and the Circuit 

Court was clearly erroneous in considering the ramifications to the estate in "breaking" them. 
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IV. 	 IN THE ALTERNATIVE TO GRANTING AN APPEAL UNDER THE 
COLLATERAL ORDER DOCTRINE, A WRIT OF PROHIBITION 
SHOULD BE ISSUED TO PRECLUDE ANY SALE OF THE FAMILY 
FARM FROM PROCEEDING. 

Although the Order Granting Motion of Co-Executors to Sell Property (A.R. 142) is 

interlocutory, it meets the criteria for an appeal under the collateral order doctrine, in that it "(1) 

conclusively determines the disputed controversy, (2) resolves an important issue completely 

separate from the merits of the action, and (3) is effectively unreviewable on appeal from a final 

judgment." Durrn v. Heck's, Inc., 184 W.Va. 562, 566 n. 2, 401 S.E.2d 908, 912 n. 2 (1991) 

(internal quotations and citation omitted). Additionally, a writ of prohibition is warranted. 

A. 	 The Petitioner meets the criteria for an appeal under the collateral order 
doctrine. 

First, the Circuit Court order conclusively determines the disputed controversy at issue on 

appeal. The issue is whether the pending sales may proceed, with the Circuit Court granting the 

Respondent Co-Executors the authority to sell the real property as they wish. Second, the 

Complaint here is for (1) breach of fiduciary (2) tortious interference with an inheritance, and (3) 

partition of real estate. (A.R. 2-7). The issues of whether certain sales may proceed without a 

commissioner's report or other fmding that partition cannot be conveniently made, and that the 

interests of the owners will be promoted by, and not prejudiced by a sale, resolves an important 

issue completely separate from the merits of (1) and (2), supra, and partially or completely 

separate from the merits of (3), supra. Moreover, the Circuit Court skipped a necessary 

procedural step in ordering the sale without first appointing a commissioner or otherwise 

affirmatively placing upon the record that a partition in kind could not be conveniently made. 

Due to the shear amount of acreage at issue, it is highly unlikely that a partition in kind could not 
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be conveniently made. Here, as in Robinson v. Pack, 223 W. Va. 828, 833,679 S.E.2d 660,665 

(2009), all this Court "need determine is a question of law," whether a sale may be ordered 

without any determination of whether a partition in kind could be conveniently made. Id 

(quoting Mitchell v. Forsyth, 472 U.S. 511,528, 105 S.Ct. 2806 (1985)). 

Third, the Circuit Court order is effectively unreviewable on appeal from final judgment. 

More than six months prior to the sale offers at issue, the Respondent Co-Executors were aware 

via written correspondence that the Petitioner desired to receive his one-third share of the family 

farm in kind and that the portion he desired was the third that was adjacent to his existing parcel, 

where he resides. (A.R. 85, 87). If the sales as proposed are permitted, the Petitioner would be 

irreparably harmed and unlikely to undo the transaction in an app~al proceeding of the final 

order herein, a fact to which the Circuit Court agreed: "[b]ecause the [Petitioner] wishes to 

partition the property in kind, the sale ofportions of the property could create irreparable harm to 

him ...." (A.R. 93). 

B. The five factors warranting an issuance of a writ of prohibition are met. 

The Circuit Court's order is clearly erroneous as a matter of law, given the controlling 

statutes and case law regarding the sale of a specific devise of real property. Therefore, the 

issues presented in this case warrant the issuance ofa writ ofprohibition: 

In determining whether to entertain and issue the writ of prohibition for cases not 
involving an absence of jurisdiction but only where it is claimed that the lower 
tribunal exceeded its legitimate powers, this Court will examine five factors: (1) 
whether the party seeking the writ has no other adequate means, such as direct 
appeal, to obtain the desired relief; (2) whether the petitioner will be damaged or 
prejudiced in a way that is not correctable on appeal; (3) whether the lower 
tribunal's order is clearly erroneous as a matter of law; (4) whether the lower 
tribunal's order is an oft repeated error or manifests persistent disregard for either 
procedural or substantive law; and (5) whether the lower tribunal's order raises 
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new and important problems or issues of law of first impression. These factors are 
general guidelines that serve as a useful starting point for determining whether a 
discretionary writ of prohibition should issue. Although all five factors need not 
be satisfied, it is clear that the third factor, the existence of clear error as a matter 
of law, should be given substantial weight." 

Syi. Pt. 4, State ex reI. Hoover v. Berger, 199 W.Va. 12, 483 S.E.2d 12 (1996). First, if this 

appeal of the interlocutory order is denied under the collateral order doctrine, the Petitioner has 

no other adequate means to prevent the execution of the Circuit Court order. Although the 

Circuit Court did stay the order, the stay is only "until such time as the Supreme Court has ruled 

on the appeal." (A.R. 94). Second, as stated, supra, the sale of portions of the family farm are 

not correctable on appeal of the final decision ending the case below, because the Petitioner will 

suffer irreparable harm if the proposed sale is permitted to proceed, only to be reversed on 

appeal. It is axiomatic that if the property is developed, mined, or timbered, the Petitioner will 

suffer irreparable harm. Furthermore: 

Partition by sale, when it is not voluntary by all parties, can be a harsh result for 
the cotenant(s) who opposes the sale. This is because "'[a] particular piece of real 
estate cannot be replaced by any sum of money, however large; and one who 
wants a particular estate for a specific use, if deprived ofhis rights, cannot be said 
to receive an exact equivalent or complete indemnity by the payment· of a sum of 
money.'" 

Ark Land Co., 599 S.E.2d at 759 (quoting Wight v. Ingram-Day Lumber Co .. 195 Miss. 823, 17 

So.2d 196, 198 (1944) (quoting Lynch v. Union Inst. for Savings, 159 Mass. 306, 34 N.E. 364, 

364-365 (1893)). Third, as argued, supra, the Circuit Court's order is clearly erroneous as a 

matter of law, as it fails to comply with W Va. Code §§ 44-8-1 and 37-4-3. Fourth, as argued, 

supra, the Circuit Court's decision completely denies the Petitioner of his statutory and 

procedural rights. Fifth, although the lower tribunal's order does not raise new and important 
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problems or issues of law of first impression, "all five factors need not be satisfied" in order to 

justify the issuance of the writ. Hoover, supra, at Syl. Pt. 4. 

CONCLUSION 

The Circuit Court's failure to comply with the requisites of W. Va. Code § 37-4-3, in 

violation of the Petitioner's statutory and procedural rights, mandates a reversal and remand of 

the Circuit Court's order. Additionally, the Circuit Court's decision was likely based, at least in 

part, in the Court's conclusion that the Co-executor Respondents would otherwise be in breach 

of contracts of sale, which were, in fact, merely expired offers. For these reasons, the Petitioner