SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Petitioner's arguments hinge on the question of whether bequests to him in the 

Will were "specific devises" that prevented a sale of the property by the executors. As 

the trial court found, the testator did not intend to grant specific devises of real estate and 

instead intended to authorize the executors to sell real property as necessary. Thus, none 

of Petitioner's arguments can be sustained. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 

Respondents believe oral argument would be helpful in illuminating the issues and 

parties' arguments to the Court. 
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ARGUMENT 


Petitioner makes three (3) arguments as to why their appeal should be sustained. 

First, Petitioner argues that as a One-Third Owner of the real estate in question, he is 

entitled to a partition of the real estate, and that a sale violates Due Process. Second, 

Petitioner argues that W.Va. Code 44-8-1 bars the trial court from allowing the sale of 

any of the real property. Finally, Petitioner suggests his appeal can be treated as an 

application for writ ofprohibition. This Court should reject all three arguments. 

I. PETITIONER'S OWNERSHIP HAD NOT VESTED 

Petitioner argues Due Process was violated by the Circuit Court authorizing the 

sale ofproperty of which he was One-Third Owner. However, the right of ownership has 

not yet vested in Petitioner. 

As Petitioner recognizes, this Court has previously held that "devises are to be 

construed as vesting at the testator's death, unless the intention to postpone the vesting is 

clearly indicated in the will." Patton v. Corley, 107 W.Va. 318,148 S.E. 120, 121 

(1929)(emphasis added). However, this Will evinces an intent to delay vesting. 

The relevant language in the will is: 

"SEVENTH: I give, will, devise and bequeath my property 
as follows: ...B. My home, the commercial complex I which Press 
Little Market and Press Snack Bar operates, Press Auto 
Market and an eight car garage shall be divided between my 
three children .. . .In the event that any or all ofthis property 
shall be sold, then before the proceeds are divided between my 
three children, the sum ofTwenty-Five Thousand [sic] ($25,000.00) 
shall be given to my daughter Judith E. Wolfe." 
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App. at 11 (emphasis added). 

The Will specifically contemplates that the beneficiaries may receive, not title to 

the property, but the proceeds thereof if the Executors sell the real estate. "The general 

intent of a testator, clearly and definitely expressed in his will, prevails over particular or 

special intent expressed in part ofit..." Hope Natural Gas Co. v. Shriver, 75 W.Va. 401, 

Syll. Point 2 (1914). Therefore, the Will explicitly indicates that the heirs may not vest 

any title in the property, or a sale by the executor would be impossible. As such, no Due 

Process right attaches to the bequest. 

II. 	 SEC. 44-8-1 DOES NOT PROHIBIT A SALE IN THIS ESTATE 

"When any will ... executed gives to the executor named therein 
The power to sell the testator's real estate, which has not been 
Theretofore specifically devised therein, the executor may sell 
Any such real estate unless otherwise provided in said will." 

W.Va. Code sec. 44-8-1. 

Petitioner argues that, because real estate was devised to the heirs, it is a "specific 

devise" that cannot be sold. However, the trial court found that the language in the will 

Petitioner relies on was not a specific devise. 

A specific devise is "a gift of 'a designated article or specific part of the testator's 

estate which is identified and distinguishable from other things of the same kind, which 

may be satisfied by delivery of the specific thing ... " 57 Am.Jur. Wills, secs. 1401-1402. 

The Will does not, on its face, automatically confer all of the real estate to the 

beneficiaries. The Will, by its terms, provides for the sale of a portion of the real 
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property (the commercial land). App. at 11. The Testator provided for the possibility of 

sale, and ensured that the devise could be satisfied either in kind, or by division ofthe 

proceeds. This is not a devise of a "specific thing." 

The trial court recognized this difference in its factual findings: 

"while there are some specific bequests, it appears there's enough 
language here that implies and Mrs. Presnell anticipated the 
possibility of wanting to sell or allowing the executors the right to 
sell all or part of this real estate." 

App. at 124 (emphasis added). 

While Petitioner argues this meant the trial court found the land was a "specific 

bequest," a careful reading of the trial court's language makes clear that while there were 

some specific bequests in the Will (e.g., the merchandise of Press Little Market), the land 

was not one of them. As such, the grant is not a "specific devise" and therefore sec. 44

8-1 does not apply. I 

III. 	 THIS APPEAL SHOULD NOT BE CONSIDERED AS AN APPLICATION 
FOR WRIT OF PROHIBITION 

The Respondents have previously argued that the instant appeal does not fall 

within the collateral order doctrine, and should be dismissed; those arguments are 

incorporated herein and repeated 

I Petitioner also argues that the trial court relied on certain contracts in reaching its decision. See Pet. Briefat 13. 
However, a review of the trial court's finding makes clear that it relied on the language of the Will in finding there 
were no specific devises. The trial court's comments regarding pending contracts of sale was merely in recognition 
that they existed, not that they were controlling. The trial court based its ruling on the finding that "Mrs. Presnell 
appeared to very clearly give the executors the right to sell real or personal property ... " App. at 123-124 (emphasis 
added). 
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Petitioner makes an alternative argument that his appeal should be construed as an 

application for a Writ of Prohibition against the trial court, if the Court finds that it does 

not meet the requirements of the collateral order doctrine. This Court should not 

entertain his request, however. 

Where a writ ofprohibition is sought on allegations of error, the issuance of the 

writ is discretionary. Woodall v. Laurita, 156 W.Va. 707, 712, 195 S.E.2d 717, 720 

(1973). The acts of the trial court to be prohibited must be an "abuse ofpower" so 

"flagrant" as to render an appeal useless. Id. at 707, 717. "The piecemeal challenge of 

discretionary rulings through writs of prohibition does not facilitate the orderly 

administration ofjustice." Id. at 713, 721. 

This Court should reserve its review of alleged error for cases that have a full 

record developed, with an evidentiary hearing and pleadings. Petitioner here has failed to 

layout sufficient "flagrant" "abuses ofpower" to justify the extraordinary remedy of a 

discretionary writ of prohibition, and his request should be denied. 

CONCLUSION 

Petitioner's arguments in large part rest on the perception that the trial court found 

a specific devise existed. However, the trial court found that a specific devise of real 

property did not exist, and so rejected Petitioner's position. Petitioner has failed to 

demonstrate that this factual finding was clearly erroneous. 
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This Court should likewise dismiss or deny Petitioner's appeal, affirm the rulings 

of the trial court, and remand this matter to trial court for further proceedings pursuant to 

the same.